IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO. SC01-1830

BOCA BURGER, INC.,

4DCA CASE NO. 00-1255

Petitioner,

vs.

RICHARD FORUM,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

EDNA L. CARUSO, ESQUIRE CARUSO BURLINGTON BOHN & COMPIANI, P.A. Co-counsel for petitioner 1615 Forum Place, #3-A West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 686-8010 JOHN R. HARGROVE, ESQUIRE W. KENT BROWN, ESQUIRE HEINRICH GORDON HARGROVE WEIHE & JAMES, P.A. Co-counsel for petitioner 500 E. Broward Blvd., Suite 1000 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33394 Telephone: (954) 527-2800

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Ι

THE CASE

This case began in February of 2000 when respondent RICHARD FORUM ("plaintiff") filed a two-count complaint for damages arising out of alleged food mislabeling. (App. A at 1-5; R:1-5) In an unprecedented decision, the Fourth District has assessed trial and appellate court fees under § 57.105, Florida Statutes (1999),¹ against petitioner BOCA BURGER, INC. ("defendant"), who was merely defending on appeal a favorable trialcourt ruling. Fees were also assessed against defense counsel. <u>See Forum v. Boca Burger</u>, 788 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001).

The 1999 version of § 57.105(1) reads in pertinent part as follows:

Upon the court's initiative or motion of party, the court shall award а any reasonable attorney's fee to be paid to the prevailing party in equal amounts by the losing party and the losing party's attorney on any claim or defense at any time during a civil proceeding or action in which the court finds that the losing party or the losing party's attorney knew or should have known that a claim or defense when initially presented to the court or at any time before trial:

(a) Was not supported by the material facts necessary to establish the claim or defense; or

(b) Would not be supported by the application of then-existing law to those material facts.

I AW OFFICE S OF HEINRI СН GORDO Ν HARGR OVE WEIHE & JAMES, P.A. M FORT LAUDE RDALE, FLORID 33394-

3092

OFFICE S OF HEINRI СН GORDO N HARGR OVE WEIHE & JAMES, P.A. M FORT RDALE, FLORID 33394-3092

Ι Δ\Λ/

Plaintiff's complaint was originally signed and filed by a single attorney, Joseph Dawson, whose name appears on the signature page as plaintiff's sole counsel of record. (App. A at 5; R:5) It asserted two counts -- one for violations of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act and the other for mental anguish, labeled as a "personal injury" claim, resulting from those violations. (App. A at 2-5; R:2-5) Defendant moved to dismiss, claiming essentially that the suit was an improper attempt to assert a private right of action for food mislabeling which could not be maintained under Florida law. (App. B at 2-3; R:7-8, 11-12) A copy was served in the customary manner on plaintiff's sole counsel of record, attorney Dawson. (App. B at 3; R:8) A hearing on defendant's motion was set by the trial court for March 28, 2000, and the trial court itself sent the notice thereof to counsel bearing its form "stamp" that the hearing could not be cancelled without the court's permission.²

This hearing may not be canceled by the parties unless the issues set for hearing have been resolved by written stipulation filed with the court (courtesy copy to the judge's office) or a court order canceling

² Judge Greene's practice is to order specially set hearings himself. (See App. D at 5, ¶ 5) The procedure is straightforward. Counsel requests a hearing by submitting a pre-signed notice. Once the court decides to hear the matter, a time is designated on the form, and the court itself sends out the pre-signed notice under counsel's signature, affixing a pre-printed stamp on the notice which reads as follows:

I AW OFFICE S OF HEINRI СН GORDO Ν HARGR OVE WEIHE & JAMES, P.A. M FORT RDALE. FLORID 33394-3092

The events occurring on the March 28th hearing date have brought about this court's review of the case.³ On that day, a totally new set of lawyers -- the law firm of Miller, Schwartz & Miller, P.A. -- attempted to *substitute* for attorney Dawson without complying with the substitute counsel rule. <u>See</u> Fla. R. Jud. Admin. 2.060(h). That rule mandates that no substitute attorney may appear in the absence of an order *and* the written and filed consent of the client. (App. A at 11)

Shortly before the hearing, scheduled for 4:15 p.m. on March 28th, the new lawyers from the Miller firm faxed a nine-count amended complaint to defense counsel, Gordon James. (App. C; R:18-54) Plaintiff's *only* counsel of record, attorney Dawson, was not identified anywhere on the signature page of the proposed amended complaint, and neither Dawson nor plaintiff attended the hearing. (App. C at 30; App. D at 25; R:47)

Finding that the Miller firm was not appearing as *additional* counsel and that there was no compliance with Florida's judicial administrative rule governing substitution of counsel, the trial court refused to recognize the amended complaint as a valid and authorized pleading on behalf of plaintiff. (Tr.

hearing.

(<u>Id.</u> at 18, Ex. C). These procedures were followed regarding the March 28th hearing. (<u>See</u> App. D at 5, ¶ 5)

³ This court accepted jurisdiction of the case based on express and direct conflict with <u>State Department of Highway</u> <u>Safety & Motor Vehicles v. Salter</u>, 710 So. 2d 1039 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) and <u>Carnival Leisure Industries Ltd. v. Arviv</u>, 655 So. 2d 177 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). <u>See also Enoch Assocs., Inc. v. Moult Investments, Ltd.</u>, 404 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Those cases hold that since a trial court order arrives in an appellate court as a "presumptively correct" ruling, an appellate court cannot assess § 57.105 fees against a party attempting to uphold the ruling on appeal. While not serving as a basis for the conflict, it should nevertheless be noted that the Fourth District itself has adopted this rule in other cases. <u>See Coral Springs Roofing Co. v. Campagna</u>, 528 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); <u>McNee v. Biz</u>, 473 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); <u>see also Homestead Ins. Co. v. Poole, Masters & Goldstein, C.P.A., P.A.</u>, 604 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

I AW OFFICE S OF HEINRI СН GORDO Ν HARGR OVE WEIHE & JAMES, P.A. M FORT RDALE, FLORID А 33394-3092

 $10-12)^4$ Instead, the trial court directed its attention to the original Dawson complaint, determined that it alleged a claim for food mislabeling which is preempted as a matter of law, and dismissed the complaint with prejudice. (Tr. 22-23)

On appeal to the Fourth District, defendant contended that despite the liberalityregarding amended pleadings, accepting the amended complaint would have been futile because "food mislabeling" is a preempted area of the law providing for no private right of action. The Fourth District not only disagreed, but determined that defendant and its counsel misled the trial court by making such an argument and "that plaintiff had every right under the rule — so early in the case — to amend his complaint without leave of court, and therefore the legal sufficiency of the original complaint was clearly moot." Forum, 768 So. 2d at 1059. Ignoring the strict requirements of the "substitute" counsel rule altogether, the Fourth District concluded that plaintiff"s new lawyers "merely appeared as additional attorneys for plaintiff" who could appear at any time without leave of court and without the written consent of the party. Despite case law to the contrary, the Fourth District further concluded that preemption is an affirmative defense which cannot be raised in a motion to dismissal. Trial and appellate fees were then assessed under § 57.105, as amended.

II

THE FACTS

Late in the day before the March 28th hearing, defendant's trial counsel, Gordon James, retrieved a voice mail from the law firm of Miller, Schwartz & Miller to the effect that the Miller firm would be filing an amended complaint and requested that the next day's hearing be cancelled. (See App. D at 5, ¶ 5) Because Judge Greene specially sets his own hearings, the March 28th hearing was not cancelled. (See Tr.

 $^{^4}$ A copy of the hearing transcript is also contained in Appendix D to this brief. (See App. D, Ex. F)

1)

Miller's proposed complaint did not arrive in James' office until the next day when it was faxed over the lunch hour. The record reflects that James saw the nine-count Miller pleading for the first time at approximately 2:00 p.m. -- barely two hours before he was to be in court. (App. D at 5, \P 5) Because the amended complaint was not signed by Dawson and in fact eliminated attorney Dawson's name altogether, it was clear that the Miller firm was not merely "additional" counsel, but was instead *substituting* as counsel for Dawson. (See id.)

The transcript reveals that the only individuals present at the hearing on behalf of plaintiff were representatives of the *Miller* firm. Neither Dawson nor plaintiff himself were in attendance. (See App. D at 5, \P 5; Tr. 1) The transcript further reveals that the trial court had a problem with this. A surprised and annoyed Judge Greene stated:

I have a fundamental problem. I have a fundamental problem that's taking place, which is twofold.

Firstly, as of yet, I don't see an order for *substitution* of counsel; I don't see an appearance from [the Miller] firm. Secondly, and far more significantly, there is a Complaint that's been served; there's a Complaint that's been filed; I don't see a Motion to Amend the Complaint; I don't see a hearing by this Court authorizing the filing of the Amended Complaint; all that has been dropped off in my hands today is a courtesy copy of the Amended Complaint. And procedurally, there is a certain lack of following the rules [and] caselaw, and that's the problem.

At this point, the court can only recognize Mr. Dawson to begin with as counsel. So let's take it step by step.

(Tr. 3-4; emphasis added). Judge Greene continued by stating that as to the appearance of new counsel, "candidly, I don't know if it's honestly worth the paper it's written on" and that he was "really hard pressed to even fathom this [substituted counsel] situation." (Tr. 4-5) He went on:

The Amendment to the Complaint, filed two hours prior to the hearing, by

a counsel who has only filed an appearance today; *who has not filed as a co-counsel*; there is no signature on the Complaint by the only counsel recognized in the case who filed the initial Complaint; the representation, even of you, Mr. Miller, that you're co-counsel to Mr. Orlando, who is a phantom to the file, and Mr. Orlando being, Michael Orlando, P.A., separate and distinct in letterhead from Joe Dawson, P.A., who is the counsel of record, yeah, the Court is not going to recognize the Amendment at this point for a multitude and litany of reasons that I've just stated.

(Tr. 11-12; emphasis added).

While the substitution issue set the stage for the dismissal, preemption was the basis for the ruling. (Tr. 23) As the hearing went forward, attorney James' associate, Clifford Wolff, argued that plaintiff's food mislabeling claim was preempted by federal and state law, so that any version of the complaint would be subject to dismissal with prejudice. (Tr. 13-23; <u>see also</u> App. B) Wolff also cited two non-Florida cases in support of his argument that in the limited circumstances where the non-moving party is prejudiced, a trial court has the discretion to reject a first amended pleading. Forum, 788 So. 2d at 1058. In a strange analytical twist, the Fourth District actually acknowledged Florida authority which supported Wolff's point, <u>id.</u> at 1059, yet chastised him for making the argument. In its bristling decision, the Fourth District determined that the new lawyers were properly before the court; that the new pleading should have been accepted as a matter of right; and that obtaining the dismissal and attempting to uphold it on appeal justified sanctions, which it imposed. <u>Id.</u> at 1061-63.

Review was sought in this court after post-decision motions were denied.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The 1999 version of § 57.105 establishes new criteria for the imposition of a fee award, but the *purpose* of the statute is unchanged -- it is designed to discourage frivolous litigation. Given the Fourth District's assessment against an appellee who has unsuccessfully defended a trial court's ruling, the statute

OFFICE SOF HEINRI СН GORDO Ν HARGR OVE WEIHE & JAMES, P.A. M FORT RDALE, FLORID А 33394-3092

I AW

is in danger of becoming a mere "prevailing party" rule.

To reach its result, the Fourth District impermissibly became a fact-finder, which is not the role of an appellate To make matters worse, the facts it was "finding" were court. never presented to or ruled upon by the trial court in the first place, so no error was preserved. The Fourth District also disregarded several rules of law in the process of reaching its conclusion. First, it failed to recognize that § 57.105 fees cannot be assessed against an appellee who is attempting to uphold a favorable lower court ruling. Second, it ignored the strict requirements of the administrative rule governing the substitution of counsel. And third, it side-stepped the fact that the doctrine of preemption can be raised in a motion to dismiss.

The effect of the Fourth District's improper fact-finding and assessment of fees was that defendant and its counsel were not given the opportunity to be heard and they were left with no means of review. If left to stand, the ruling virtually ensures that any appellate lawyer will think twice before representing an appellee, particularly when an affirmance may be possible only by arguing that the trial court's ruling was right for the wrong reason.

ARGUMENT

I AW OFFICE S OF HEINRI СН GORDO Ν HARGR OVE WEIHE & JAMES, P.A. M FORT RDALE. FLORID 33394-3092

5

THE FOURTH DISTRICT ERRED BY RULING ON AN ISSUE NOT PRESERVED, BY FAILING TO RECOGNIZE THE "ARGUABLE SUBSTANCE" RULE AND BY UNCONSTITUTIONALLY ASSESSING FEES UNDER § 57.105

A. <u>No Error Preserved</u>

As the record discloses, fees were *never* requested in the trial court, and no findings were ever made in the trial court to justify the Fourth District's action. In other words, no § 57.105 issue was preserved below. While a motion for fees was filed on appeal, that motion only asked for *appellate* fees under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.400.

In <u>Kurzweil v. Larkin Hosp. Operating Co.</u>, 684 So. 2d 901 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), the trial court awarded fees to a defending party in a medical malpractice case under Chapter 776, Florida Statutes. The plaintiff appealed the statutory fee determination, and the Third District held that Chapter 776 did not justify the fee award. The defending party argued that § 57.105 could nevertheless serve as an alternate basis. The Third District rejected the argument, holding that "[w]here the trial court has failed to make [§ 57.105] findings, [there is no] authority to do so in the first instance on appeal." <u>Id.</u> at 903.

The point here is basic to appellate practice. An appellate court has no jurisdiction to award attorney's fees for services rendered in the *trial* court where fees were never an issue. <u>Kurzweil</u>, 684 So. 2d at 902; <u>see also</u> Philip P. Padovano, FLORIDA APPELLATE PRACTICE § 1.7 at 15-16 (West 2001) (despite broad grant of jurisdiction, appellate review is limited solely to issues raised and decided below).

⁵ The motion on appeal, standing alone, cannot serve as a basis for an appellate court to review an issue that has not been properly preserved in the trial court. While § 57.105 permits an appellate court to assess fees for bad faith *appellate* conduct, that is the *only* point which plaintiff's motion in this case could possibly serve.

I AW OFFICE S OF HEINRI СН GORDO Ν HARGR OVE WEIHE & JAMES, P.A. M FORT RDALE, FLORID А 33394-3092

The Fourth District unfortunately saw things a bit differently. It first assumed the role of "fact-finder" — a role which the law forbids in an appellate court. <u>See State ex rel. Oliver v. City of New Port Richey</u>, 142 Fla. 514, 195 So. 418 (1940); Philip J. Padovano, FLORIDA APPELLATE PRACTICE § 7.1 at 106 (West 2001). Once it decided to disregard that fundamental principle, it proceeded on a flawed analytical course, presumably to justify the result it was intent on reaching. To say the least, it had no business engaging in an analysis of an issue not properly before it.

B. <u>The "Arguable Substance" Rule</u>

1. <u>History of 1999 Amendment and the Whitten Standard</u>

The legislative history of the 1999 amendment to § 57.105 makes it clear that despite the change in wording, its intended purpose remains constant. The very first page of the current version's staff analysis explains that the amendment authorizes sanctions "to deter frivolous claims [and] frivolous defenses." A later section of the analysis makes the same point. Judiciary Chairman Johnnie B. Byrd concluded that the legislation was necessary to accomplish the goal of "discourag[ing] frivolous litigation." <u>See</u> Fla. H.R. Comm. On Judiciary, HB775 (1999) Staff Analysis 1, 21 (final analysis June 2, 1999). Decisional law applying the 1999 version likewise recognizes this legislative purpose. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Vasquez v. Provincial</u> <u>South, Inc.</u>, 795 So. 2d 216, 218 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001); <u>Arenas v. City of Coleman</u>, 791 So. 2d 1234, 1235 n.1 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001); <u>Weatherby Assocs., Inc. v. Ballack</u>, 783 So. 2d 1138, 1141-42 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001).

Significantly, the staff analysis states that the 1999 amendment to § 57.105 adopted language from Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11, <u>see</u> Staff Analysis at 14, which is likewise designed to punish frivolous practice. <u>See</u> Fed. R. Civ. P. 11, Comm. Notes to 1993 Amendment. Given this legislative history, it is evident that the wording change of § 57.105 has not affected its essential purpose. Thus, Florida's watershed judicial statement of the meaning and intent of § 57.105 is still good law. <u>See Whitten v.</u> <u>Progressive Casualty Insurance Co.</u>, 410 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1982), <u>disapproved on other grounds, Florida</u>

I AW OFFICE S OF HEINRI СН GORDO Ν HARGR OVE WEIHE & JAMES, P.A. M FORT LAUDE RDALE. FLORID 33394-3092

Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So. 2d 1148 (Fla. 1985).

In <u>Whitten</u>, this court acknowledged its earlier decision in <u>Kittel v. Kittel</u>, 210 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1967), holding that statutes authorizing fee awards are in derogation of the common law and must therefore be strictly construed. <u>Whitten</u>, 410 So. 2d at 505. Specifically addressing a fee award under § 57.105, the court defined what is meant by a frivolous appeal. In the court's own words:

A frivolous appeal is not merely one that is likely to be unsuccessful. It is one that is so readily recognizable as devoid of merit on the face of the record that there is little, if any, prospect whatsoever that it can ever succeed. It must be one so clearly untenable, or the insufficiency of which is so manifest on a bare inspection of the record and assignments of error, that its character may be determined without argument or research. An appeal is not frivolous where a substantial justiciable question can be spelled out of it, or from any part of it, even though such question is unlikely to be decided other than as the lower court decided it....

Id. The court then went on to explain the purpose of § 57.105 as follows:

The purpose of section 57.105 is to discourage baseless claims, stonewall defenses and sham appeals in civil litigation by placing a price tag through attorney's fees awards on losing parties who engage in these activities. Such frivolous litigation constitutes a reckless waste of judicial resources as well as the time and money of prevailing litigants.

<u>Id.</u>

2. <u>The Progeny of Whitten</u>

Adopting the <u>Whitten</u> standard as to what type of conduct should be punishable under § 57.105, the Second District in <u>State Department of Highway Safety & Motor Vehicles v. Salter</u>, 710 So. 2d at 1039 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), held that it is inappropriate to sanction a party who unsuccessfully attempts to uphold a trial court ruling on appeal. The court reasoned that because a trial court order is presumptively correct, a party has the unfettered right to defend it on appeal without being subject to the reach of § 57.105. <u>Id.</u> at 1041. Simply stated, imposing sanctions for defending a presumptively correct order would be a non-sequitur. <u>Salter</u> is a restatement of the "arguable substance" rule announced in <u>Carnival Leisure</u> Industries, Ltd. v. Arviv, 655 So. 2d 177 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). In <u>Arviv</u>, the court said:

I AW OFFICE S OF HEINRI СН GORDO Ν HARGR OVE WEIHE & JAMES, P.A. M FORT RDALE. FLORID А 33394-3092

Where a sitting circuit judge rules in favor of a litigant on a point of law, obviously the point has 'arguable substance'...

Id. at 181. Using the "arguable substance" characterization as the basis for its reasoning, the court held:

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