# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA SU	JPREME C	COURT CASE NO. SC0	1-1830 
BOCA BURGER, INC.	)		
	)	DCA CASE NO.	4D00-1255
Petitioner,	)	LT. CASE NO.	00-2282 12
	)		
v.	)		
	)		
RICHARD FORUM,	)		
	)		
Respondent.	)		
	,		

#### **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

MILLER, SCHWARTZ & MILLER, P.A. 2435 HOLLYWOOD BOULEVARD HOLLYWOOD, FLORIDA 33020 (954) 924-0300 Telephone (954) 924-0311 Facsimile

JAMES FOX MILLER, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 095070

CHARLES FOX MILLER, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 0970270

GREG A. LEWEN, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 0047422

# **

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>/ Petitioner does not address, or even attempt to address, whether every prior version of section 57.105 was also unconstitutional.

acknowledges <u>Moakley</u> does not expressly deal with section 57.105. Not only does <u>Moakley</u>, and for that matter, <u>Diaz</u>, not expressly deal with 57.105, they do not impliedly deal with it either as both <u>expressly decline to offer an opinion</u> regarding whether their holdings would be different if applying section 57.105 analysis. <u>Moakley</u> at 6 ("we express no opinion as to whether the award of attorneys' fees would have been proper under this statute."); <u>Diaz</u> at 3 (citing the identical language). Moreover, both opinions also acknowledge that the 1999 amended version of 57.105 "is broader" than the previous version."<sup>12</sup> <u>Id</u>.

Regardless, the due process concerns in <u>Moakley</u> and <u>Diaz</u> are not present in <u>Forum</u> because the Fourth District merely applied the <u>statutory</u> mandate of 57.105 to a case where there was "<u>no possible view of the law</u>" which could have supported Petitioner's arguments. <u>Forum</u> at 1061 (A 5) ("the conduct of defense counsel cannot possibly turn on any representations of their client or for a good faith modification of existing law"). The statute itself provides notice to all litigants of the standard of liability to be imposed. The conclusions of law were enough to show that counsel knew or should have known it was peddling bad law.

Compare, for example, with Diaz where the trial court acknowledged "I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>/ Under the 1999 amended version of 57.105, fees are assessed "at any time" when the party and/or its attorney "knew or should have known" that what they were asserting was not supported by law or fact.

don't know whether the husband got bad advice or whether the husband got advice and didn't want to follow it." <u>Diaz</u> at 2. Clearly, a factual issue remained unresolved in <u>Diaz</u> which needed to be answered before sanctions could be assessed.

Petitioner also incorrectly asserts that "it makes no difference whether [a fee assessment] is based upon inherent authority or 57.105." Petitioner's Brief at 20. The Moakley Court saw a difference, and set a priority that "if a specific statute or rule applies, the trial court should rely on the applicable rule or statute rather than on inherent authority." Moakley at 4. Here, the statute defines the requisite standard, whereas the inherent authority is left to each individual judge. See, e.g. Chambers v. NASCO, Inc., 501 U.S. 32, 50 (1991) (recognizing that "if in the informed discretion of the court, neither the statute nor the Rules are up to the task, the court may safely rely on its inherent power.").

It is worth noting, however, that even if 57.105 were unconstitutional, the Record in this case is so unambiguous that sanctions could be imposed through the Court's inherent authority.<sup>13</sup> Unless this Court concluded that Rule 1.190(a), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, no longer means what it says, that an amended

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>/ Moreover, the Court also has the inherent power of direct contempt to punish behavior that is "contemptuous on its face." See <u>Carnival Corp. v. Beverly</u>, 744 So.2d 489, 496 (Fla 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1999).

complaint may be filed as a matter of right <u>at any time</u> before the filing of a responsive pleading, there is no escaping the fact that Petitioner successfully mislead the trial court. <u>See, e.g. Patsy v. Patsy</u>, 666 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1996) (finding the trial court properly exercised its inherent authority to sanction an attorney for filing a sham pleading solely to delay proceedings.).

## B. Separation of Powers

Petitioner argues that this Court has exclusive jurisdiction over the discipline of lawyers so 57.105 is unconstitutional. First, this is not discipline. Second, in arguing that the Legislature does not have the authority to impose "new monetary sanctions upon attorney conduct," Petitioner turns a blind-eye to the cases it has relied upon. Moakley, for example, states that "a trial court possesses the inherent authority to impose attorneys' fees against an attorney for bad faith conduct." Moakley at 4. See also Shelly v. District Court of Appeal, 350 So.2d 471, 472 (Fla. 1977) ("Contempt power is proper and historical alternative to existing formal disciplinary proceedings.").

Again, Petitioner ignores the Fourth District's holding that Petitioner persisted in trying to uphold this patently erroneous decision, and instead claims yet again that an attorney will be prejudiced by having "no advanced notice of what he can and cannot legitimately argue." Petitioner's Brief at 22. The very precise

statutory standards set forth in section 57.105 provide all the notice required, but no attorney should have to question whether it is permissible to mislead a court. As the Fourth District noted, "a [justice] system is surely defective ... if it is acceptable for lawyers to 'suggest' a trial judge into applying a 'rule' or a 'discretion' that they know – or should know – is contrary to existing law." Forum at 1062 (A 5).

#### C. Single-Subject Requirement

In a footnote only, Petitioner raises the argument that 57.105, as amended, is unconstitutional because the underlying public law, Chapter 99-225, violates the single-subject requirement. The Court has allowed Amicus to file briefs for and against this issue, so Respondent will not reargue the merits of why 57.105 is <u>not</u> unconstitutional.

Respondent does, however, point out that this is essentially a political matter, as Chapter 99-225 was the highly controversial tort reform legislation. That political debate should not affect the outcome of this appeal and prevent the assessment of fees for the clear wrongdoing of Petitioner.

Generally, public laws containing multiple subjects are cured upon reenactment of the statute. <u>See Loxahatchee River Environmental Control District v.</u> <u>School Board of Palm Beach County</u>, 515 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1987). Whether or not the remainder of Chapter 99-225 was re-enacted, the Legislature has expressed its clear intent to re-enact 57.105. Indeed, the Legislature passed a new amendment to 57.105 in 2002, which was signed by the governor on April 23, 2002. It reinforces the import of the 1999 amendment by providing the offending party or counsel with a 21-day recapture period to cure the improper conduct. Chapter 2002-77.

WHETHER THE FOURTH DISTRICT MISCONSTRUED THE RECORD IN IMPOSING 57.105 LIABILITY ON PETITIONER FOR ARGUMENTS WHICH "COULD NOT BE MADE IN GOOD FAITH"

(As Restated By Respondent)

According to Petitioner, the Fourth District not only had "no business" imposing 57.105 fees against them, but it was "totally off base" in interpreting Petitioner's conduct. Petitioner's Brief at 22. It is respectfully suggested that Petitioner's arguments in this regard be reviewed with the lower court transcript in hand. As set forth below, Petitioner continues to make legal argument and factual assertions which go beyond any reasonable license of advocacy, and only seek to underscore the unbridled liberties already taken by Petitioner.

#### Petitioner Mislead The Lower Court To Error

The Fourth District reached the unequivocal conclusion that "there is no view of the law" that supports Petitioner's position that Respondent did not have

an absolute right to amend. No matter how "incontrovertible" the Fourth District found this point to be, however, Petitioner persists in arguing that "no interpretation could have been <u>further from the truth</u>" and that "<u>without a doubt</u> [Respondent's] right to amend was legally and factually limited ..." by the Miller firm's appearance in the matter. Petitioner's Brief at 26 and 28 (emphasis added).

The law and facts are clear. It is uncontested that Respondent timely submitted his Amended Complaint before any responsive pleading had even been filed, or served.<sup>14</sup> Yet in direct contravention of the black-letter Florida law, and based upon no applicable legal authority, the trial court refused to recognize Plaintiff's right to amend his initial pleading. The trial court, of course, was acting in reliance upon Petitioner's deceit, having been assured of what "the case law suggests." Transcript at p. 10, lines 7-8 (A 16).

What is perhaps more alarming, however, is the apparent ease at which Petitioner continues to try to gain an upper-hand through legal artifice and trickery,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>/Respondent is not going to reargue the law with respect to Rule 1.190(a), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. Petitioner expressly abandoned this argument and therefore this Court did not grant jurisdiction on this issue. See Motion to Stay Issuance of Mandate and For Stay Pending Further Appellate Review dated August 14, 2001 at 1 (A 36) ("Boca Burger has decided to seek further review in the Florida Supreme Court on the limited issue of §57.105 sanctions ..." (emphasis added). Despite the fact that Petitioner has now appealed only the limited singular ruling of the imposition of sanctions under §57.105, they are apparently hoping for this Court to rule on a much broader array of matters not currently on appeal. See Petitioner's Brief at 33 ("Petitioner BOCA BURGER requests that ... the decision of the trial court dismissing this case with prejudice be reinstated.").

all in the apparent name of "zealous" representation. Petitioner is apparently willing to make any argument, no matter how untruthful it is. Petitioner cited case law from the Eastern District of Michigan which purportedly stood for the proposition that the statutory right to amend may be denied even before the filing of a responsive pleading. See Transcript at p. 9 (A 15) (citing to Chevy Chase Federal Savings

Bank v. Davis, 121 B.R. 516 (E.D.Mich. 1990). There is no such rule or rule of law, not even in the Eastern District of Michigan Bankruptcy Court. 15

Petitioner has <u>never</u> attempted to argue the merits of that Michigan case law again. <sup>16</sup> Instead, Petitioner has only attempted to "muddy" the waters by claiming on appeal that co-counsel was somehow not properly authorized to appear on behalf of Respondent. The facts of the record, however, belie Petitioner's claim.

Petitioner's attorneys knew the Miller firm was coming into the case before the 28th. The Amended Complaint was not signed by Dawson, the lawyer who signed the original complaint, but his office mate's name did appear as counsel on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>/In <u>Chevy Chase</u>, the Court denied an oral request for leave to amend at the hearing on a motion to dismiss, but the defendant had already filed a responsive pleading at the time the request for leave to amend was made. <u>Id.</u> at 516. Petitioner has cited other cases for the wrong proposition as well. It indicated in its Jurisdictional Brief that <u>Volpicella v. Volpicella</u>, 136 So.2d 231 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962) conflicts with <u>Forum</u>, but <u>Volpicella</u> is also inapplicable. Unlike Respondent, <u>Volpicella</u> sought leave to amend.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>/ Petitioner never put it before the Fourth District or this Court. <u>See</u> Petitioner's Table of Authorities in its Appellee's [Fourth District] Answer Brief at ii-viii (A 47).

the Amended Complaint.<sup>17</sup>

It could <u>not</u> be "clear that the Miller firm was not merely 'additional counsel', but was instead substituting as counsel..." Petitioner's Brief at 6. If anything was "<u>clear</u>", based upon the Record, it was that the Miller firm filed a Notice of Appearance and entered as co-counsel. Indeed, there is an unequivocal statement by Charles Fox Miller at the March 28 hearing as follows:

"We are appearing as co-counsel..." Transcript at p. 5, line 9 (A 11).

Although these are not ambiguous words, Mr. Miller makes the same point on the next page of the transcript where he states as follows:

"Mr. Dawson's firm remains as co-counsel of record. We are not discharging Mr. Dawson's firm, we don't intend to discharge Mr. Dawson's firm." Transcript at p. 6, lines 5-8 (A 12).

Finally, and so there was no possible chance for misunderstanding, Mr. Miller reiterated that Mr. Dawson was not being substituted by stating the following:

"Mr. Dawson has been very recently asked by the Plaintiff to secede his <u>primary role</u> in the case to our firm." Transcript at p. 12, lines 15-17 (A 18).<sup>18</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>/ The Fourth District found this issue "incontestable".

Petitioner is either intentionally seeking to mislead this Court, or is being strategically obtuse. Notwithstanding the actual words in the Transcript, as referenced above, Petitioner seeks to mislead this Court by claiming "New counsel made an

The Fourth District affirmed the Miller firm's appearance. "In this case <u>there was</u> no attempt to substitute new attorneys; they merely appeared as <u>additional attorneys</u> for plaintiff." <u>Forum</u> at 1058 (A 3) (emphasis added).

Despite the Court's unambiguous language, Petitioner persists in contending that the Fourth District "merely recast the Miller firm as additional counsel." Petitioner offers no factual or applicable legal basis for its claim, and instead relies on the same irrelevant cases (already briefed and argued in the Fourth District), which merely lay out the distinction between the appearance of additional or new counsel. See, e.g. Pasco County v. Quail Hollow Properties, 693 So.2d 82 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). Rule 2.060(j), Florida Rules of Judicial Administration provides that appearance as co-counsel is proper when a notice of appearance is filed contemporaneously with the filing of the Amended Complaint. Even Petitioner acknowledged the Miller firm's compliance as follows:

"[N]ew counsel filed his notice of appearance contemporaneous with the amended complaint." <u>See</u> (Petitioner's) Appellee's [Fourth District] Answer Brief at

unsubstantiated statement that attorney Dawson had been asked by plaintiff to withdraw from the case ..." Petitioner's Brief at 26.

3 (A 54).

Petitioner does not even address the inherent inconsistency of its argument. Although Petitioner now makes claims about "defendant's attempt to exclude the Miller firm ...," Petitioner did not object, and in fact persisted in wanting to argue their motion to dismiss, despite the appearance of only the Miller firm at the March 28 hearing. See Transcript at p. 13, lines 14-18 (A 19). Moreover, Petitioner's counsel knew of the Miller firm's work on the case at least one (1) day before the March 28 hearing, yet never expressed any concern to counsel of record, and instead corresponded in writing with the Miller firm with copies to co-counsel. <sup>19</sup> There is not one scintilla of evidence in the record, nor could there be, that the Miller firm made an appearance without the authority of the plaintiff or co-counsel. Petitioner does not even appeal this issue on the merits.

# The Lower Court's Error in Failing to Recognize the Amended Complaint Was Not "Harmless"

Because the Lower Court refused to recognize the properly filed Amended Complaint, the causes of action set forth therein were never argued or adjudicated. Accordingly, the Lower Court's ruling should be reversed and remanded so that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>/ Petitioner's lack of candor with respect to this and other issues is part of what has become a disturbing pattern of deceit. Throughout these proceedings, the Petitioner has shown little restraint in misrepresenting the facts, and has routinely miscited the holdings of cases to this Court and the Lower Court.

this case might properly proceed. Given his day in Court, Plaintiff will fully and confidently address Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss when and if it is filed.

Petitioner's attempts to raise the merits of the Amended Complaint for the first time on appeal is procedurally improper because the Appellate Court may not hear unheard questions of law and statements of fact not raised below. See, e.g., Snyder v. Volkswagen of America, Inc., 574 So.2d 1161 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); Brooks v. State, 2000 WL 1233038 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); In re Burton's Estate, 45 So.2d 873 (1950); Raybon v. Burnette, 135 So.2d 228 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961); Silver Springs Shores, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 336 So.2d 382 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); Maistrosky v. Harvey, 133 So.2d 103 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961).

Petitioner seeks to force Respondent to argue the merits of his Amended Complaint – including nine (9) claims for relief – in this brief, and that request is fundamentally unfair. Respondent is first entitled to his day in the Lower Court on his Amended Complaint, and only then should the appellate courts consider whether error was made with respect to the Lower Court's dealing with the Amended Complaint.

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